博士論文

Study of relationship between each segment of ECG and reconstruction phase on 320-row coronary CT. (320列冠動脈CTに心電図の各セグメントと再構成位相の 関連に関する研究)



Bari Md Razibul

Study of relationship between each segment of ECG and reconstruction phase on 320-row coronary CT. (320列冠動脈CTに心電図の各セグメントと再構成位相の 関連に関する研究)

所属専攻/Department	生化	\$物理医	ミ 学
Name of the Research Supervisor	•	阿部	修

バリ モハンマド ラジブル

Bari Md Razibul

Table of Contents

CHAPTER	R1 INTRODUCTION	.4
1.1	BACKGROUND	4
1.2	OBJECTIVE	9
1.3	DOCUMENT ARRANGEMENTS	9
CHAPTER	R 2 BASIC THEORY1	1
2.1	ECG GATING 1	11
2.2	NORMAL ECG AND ITS MEASUREMENTS 1	٤3
2.2.1	Normal ECG1	13
2.2.2	Measuring Q-T interval1	14
2.2.3	Measuring P-R interval1	15
2.2.4	Measuring R-R interval1	16
2.3	ECG VIEWER	16
СНАРТЕВ	R 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS1	18
3.1	STUDY POPULATION	18
3.2	DURATION OF THE STUDY	21
3.3	STUDY PROCEDURE	21
3.4	RELATION WITH HEART RATE	24
3.5	CT DATA ACQUISITION	25
3.6	IMAGE RECONSTRUCTION	26
СНАРТЕВ	A ANALYSIS2	<u>29</u>
4.1	SUBJECTIVE IMAGE ANALYSIS	29
4.2	IMAGE EVALUATION	29
4.3	COMPARISON OF THE RECONSTRUCTION	31
СНАРТЕВ	R 5 RESULT4	11
СНАРТЕВ	R 6 DISCUSSION4	13
CHAPTER	R 7 CONCLUSION4	17
ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS4	19
REFEREN	ICES:5	52

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Incidents of coronary artery diseases are one of the leading cause of death [1]. One of the common methods for evaluation of coronary artery disease is CT coronary angiography [2]–[4]. And radiological advancement has dynamically changed the benefit of the study on many aspects [5]. Accuracy for diagnosis of coronary stenosis through CT angiography is quite high [6]–[12]. After introduction of the CT coronary angiography ECG guidance has also been added. Considering morbidity and mortality this non-invasive angiographic procedure stepped ahead of traditional catheter coronary angiography [13]. Even it is considered as a second line investigation after treadmill tests [14]. Getting optimum quality image from CT coronary angiography is not an easy task. Numerous protocols are followed for different cases [15]. One of the main causes is the rapid movement of the heart [16]–[18]. Heart rate can widely vary. This continuous array of variation makes the CT angiography very challenging. Not only that, the reconstruction of the coronary vessels requires much better data to be processed to track down the details of the narrow vessels as well as their pathologies. Data from different axis of the heart are also required for tracking down a clear path of the vessels. It is known that slower movements can extract better quality images. Aiming this theory, medications like beta blockers have been used before the study to control the heart rates which is not always possible [19]. In such condition, ECG gating can help to ease up the process. For many years electrocardiography (ECG) has been synchronously used with CT coronary angiography (CTCAG) and is the modality of choice for detection of coronary conditions specially for coronary arterial stenoses [16], [20]–[27]. Plaque characterization is also possible through this study [28]-[31]. Patients may get exposed with high amount of radiation during the procedure if measures not taken [32], [33]. The radiation dose for performing CT is reduced through the advancement of technology [34]-[41]. Recent scanners are multi-detector-row CT scanners which can slice more thinner and have shorter rotation time, resulting faster scan during a single breath hold. And the spatial resolution covers the entire heart volume [42]. Prospective ECG-triggering is widely used to reduce radiation dose [32], [33], [39], [43]–[55]. Here the X-ray beam is kept on only in specific segment of cardiac cycle. And the remaining portion is not being used [56]. It is still uncertain when to keep the X-ray beam on or off. Because the heart beats are not rhythmical every time. This criterion has made it difficult to predict. There are specific protocols by which the expert radiologists can attempt to predict before every scan. To get the best reconstruction phase the scanning protocol may require to include multiple beats to be scanned which also increases the chance of radiation exposure [57]–[59]. But as faster scanner has been gradually introduced a preselected phase of the cardiac cycle can be used to get the best output. From the previous literature it was known that if the heart rate (HR) becomes low then the possibility of getting sharp image becomes high [59], [60]. Besides, there were subjective and objective studies stating that 10–30% dose can be reduced with "FIRST" method (Forward projected model-based Iterative Reconstruction SoluTion) [61]. It is also proved as a promising reconstruction method by different studies [62]–[65].

P. A. Araoz *et al.* studied among 30 high heart rate as well as 30 low heart rate patients in the aim of getting the best phase of image. They divided the patients in two groups at the point of 70 beats per minute. They reconstructed all the cases from 30% of the reconstruction phase upto 70% with 5% increment. They gave a sharpness score to the vessels they examined and the vessels they included in the study are the right coronary artery (RCA), left main (LM), left anterior decending (LAD) and circumflex (Cx) arteries. And after analyzig the data they found that the best quality image is found in end diastolic phase for the patient having heart rate less than 70 beats per minute. And for the high heart rate patients the best quality image is seen at end systolic phase. They also stated a range of reconstruction phase along with the cardiac phase [60].

Effectiveness of CT angiography in patients with in-stent restenosis is also studied and proved informative. A study performed on 169 vessels evaluated by CT coronary angiography showed significant ability of detecting in-stent restenosis [66].

A study also used a relatively different method to find out optimal quality image. They used kymogram which is a raw data-based motion signal. The study used data of 90 patients. Using the fully automated computer-assisted approach they concluded that the method can identify the best quality image while the CT scan examination is on process. The study incorporated patient specific selection of tube current which will use the minimum amount of radiation for bringing out of the examination for every individual [67]. As the most static stage is a diastolic phase, so it represents the opportunity for optimum reconstruction phase [68], [69]. But when the heart rate is high, it becomes difficult to find out the best one which is also common in patients with arrhythmia [16], [59], [70]–[72]. And for such cases individual patient dependent variation was accepted [58], [68], [73], [74]. Most of the acquired data do not play any role on image processing rather than producing artifacts. X-ray current modulation can play vital role in this step [75]–[77]. And usually between 40% to 90% of the cardiac cycle is selected for full use of tube current [76], [78]. As this range is very long there comes concern about radiation [79]. For correcting the unnecessary portion of the radiation, the range should be narrowed down. As most part of this range does not play any role in acquiring the necessary image it would be beneficial if the range could be narrowed down. And for this purpose, the study used kymogram signal. Some of the other studies also used kymogram as alternative to ECG for signal synchronization [80], [81]. Few studies also used it for evaluating reconstruction phase [82], [83]. The study proved the ability of kymograph for detecting optimum image though they suggested for a full potential evaluation. It mainly dealt with the tube current for achieving optimum image rather than analyzing segment wise evaluation of coronary cycle for a better image.

Another study with retrospective ECG gating was performed among 125 patients in which there was reconstruction from 20% to 80% of the R-R interval with 5% interval. It performed Pearson correlation analysis and it found no correlation between mean heart rate and image quality between left anterior descending and right coronary artery except left circumflex artery. The study also determined that best image is found in diastole and the heart rate should be below 80 beats per minute. And if the heart rate is up to 85 beats per minute then 50% of the coronary segments shows better image at diastole. Heart rate above 80 beats per minute had quality images towards end-systole [59]. This study used a 64 slice CT scan machine and 140 HU as threshold level of signal attenuation. It also measured the image quality through a scoring system and it was mentioned that it might have subjective bias. The data were analyzed through Pearson correlation analysis by SPSS. The study also stated that there was a negative effect between heart rate variability and image quality for all coronary segments [59]. It also highlighted that the heart rate regularity plays important role determining the image quality. One of the limitations of the study was they excluded coronary artery stenoses and also excluded the patients having heart rate above 102 beats per minute. For reducing the radiation dose, some of the studies used prospective helical ECG gating rather than retrospective gating [84]–[86].

Another study of 70 patients attempted to evaluate reconstruction image on both relative and absolute timing. They used a four-step grading system. And performed Spearman correlation, Wilcoxon other tests for analysis. The range of R-R interval was 40% to 75% for the study. The study concluded that the best quality image is found at mid-diastolic level for low heart rate patients. And for high heart rate patients the best image is formed at end-systolic and early-diastolic phase of the cardiac cycle. They included coronary stenosis cases and it significantly been able to detect them for 50% cases having 86% specificity and sensitivity [58]. 64-slice CT scanner was used here. Another study performed in 80 patients with 20% to 80% of the R-R interval with 5% increment in a 64-slice scanner which found no significant correlation between image quality and HR variability in right coronary artery and left anterior descending artery except left circumflex artery [87]. The ECG protocol is reviewed by a person who was not involved in the image processing and can be considered as a third reviewer. The threshold for image acquisition was 100 HU for this study. All patients of this study also received sublingual isosorbide dinitrate.

A study with 100 patients attempted to evaluate the influence of heart rate on motion artifact. They used 64-slice scanner. It found the optimum quality image at 65% to 75% of the R-R interval and concluded that best image is found at late-diastole of the cardiac cycle if the heart rate is below 60 beats per minute. And for higher heart rates the optimum quality image is observed at the late systole. And for the whole evaluation they included 25% to 75% of the R-R interval in the study [88]. CT angiography has role in detecting ischemia as well as exclusion of risk stratification [89]–[94]. Several few studies also revealed that least motion artifact is observed in systole for higher heart rate patients [16], [59], [60], [69], [74], [88], [95]–[102]. Unlike the other studies, this study

also used sublingual trinitrates for vasodilation but it included 20% to 90% of the cardiac cycle for image evaluation. Like some other studies, it followed a score-based system for classification of the artifacts. The study concluded that limitation of short segment data acquisition is not possible in high heart rate patients [88].

A study performed with 80 patients all of them having high heart rate showed that better image is found at systole. It followed a gradation system for differentiating the image quality. The heart rate \geq 70 beats per minute was considered as high heart rate [103]. One of the important limitations of this study was the number of patients which is only 35 that may question the statistical significance.

There was a study in which the patients were divided in three groups according to heart rate. It concluded that if the heart rate is \leq 70 beats/min then best quality image is found in diastole. However, the study could not suggest to scan systolic phase for high heart rates of the other two groups, rather it suggested to scan both diastolic and systolic phase for patients with high heart rates [104].

A study on 43 patients as well as phantoms were performed with filtered back projection, hybrid iterative reconstruction as well as knowledge based iterative reconstruction revealed that the last mentioned one is best for noise reduction and image improvement [38].

It has been proved that slower heart rates can achieve high image quality [17], [59]. An srticle mentioned that vessels are best visible if the heart rate is below 65 beats per minute (b/m) [105]. Study also showed that reconstruction at end-systolic and early-diastolic intervals produces high quality image in patients with low heart rates [58]. On the other hand, some of the studies concluded that the best quality image is found at mid-diastolic level [58]–[60], [95], [100], [101], [106], [107]. Some studies concluded that motion artifact at this level is also reduced by ECG gating [69], [108], [109]. Data acquisition can be limited to diastole in slow heart rate patients [58], [88], [104]. Few literatures also included their work on the basis of systolic or diastolic phase of the cardiac cycle. Due to the availability of faster scanner it is thought to be possible to scan and

reconstruct a more specific portion of the cardiac cycle which means scanning a specific portion of the ECG wave.

1.2 OBJECTIVE

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the diagnostic phases and correlate them with cardiac or ECG phases with Multi Detector CT coronary angiography.

The study would reduce radiologists' effort for preselecting the protocol for each patient to find the accurate phase as well as reduce the radiation dose, scan time and might have produced an auto-reconstruction algorithm for the future CT scanner if the scan range could be narrowed down.

1.3 DOCUMENT ARRANGEMENTS

In chapter 2, I have mentioned the basic history of coronary angiography imaging. In chapter 3, I have mentioned the materials as well as the research method of this study. Also, the relation of ECG gating with heart rate as well as basic process of data acquisition has been stated. In chapter 4, I have stated the analysis of the collected data elaborately along with the steps of image evaluation and different comparisons. In chapter 5, I have plotted the results in different ways. In chapter 6, the results were discussed for a better outcome and finally conclusions have been made in chapter 7.

CHAPTER 2 BASIC THEORY

2.1 ECG GATING

ECG gating is one of the best methods among the dose-saving strategies for reducing the radiation dose during the radiological procedures. ECG tracking is a widely used technology in various medical conditions. And using the ECG tracking device for a coronary study is more relevant. In performing coronary studies, the examiner can track the cardiac beats, different stages of the cardiac cycle as well as some other parameters. And there is an ECG tracking device which is very easy to set up with the patient and does not require any special precaution and also usually does not create patient discomfort. Just after adding the leads on the anterior chest wall of the patient with the help of gel, the ECG tracker can collect the cardiac data continuously and visualize them on the monitor. The examiner can decide and set the protocol of the study after watching the cardiac beat nature from that monitor which helps to find out the best moment of the cardiac phase that would be enough for the best quality image. This is how ECG gating helps the whole process to run easily without causing any extra effort or requiring extra time.

There are two types of ECG gating that can be used in coronary CT angiography. One is retrospective and the other is prospective ECG gating. The first one is a conventional technique in which the x-ray beam is kept on along the entire cardiac cycle.



Figure 1 Conventional retrospective ECG gating.

In conventional retrospective ECG gating (Figure 01) the x-ray beam is kept on along the entire cardiac cycle [49]. As a result, the patient gets radiation exposure for a longer time. The X-ray beams may be kept on from two beats to multiple beats and sometimes continuous along the whole length of the study.





On the other hand, in prospective ECG gating (Figure 2) the x-ray beam is kept on in a specific portion of the cardiac cycle. The x-ray beams are turned off at the other portion of the cardiac cycle. It can be considered as a partial scan [49]. Recent study shows that it significantly reduces the radiation dose [53], [110]–[119].

2.2 NORMAL ECG AND ITS MEASUREMENTS

2.2.1 Normal ECG

Though ECG is the oldest investigation for evaluation of the heart, it provides many information on present days. This is one of the common routine investigation. So, it is not necessary to discuss it too elaborately. Besides, the advanced monitors and indicators provide lots of information for the investigator. However, as this study is related to the measurements of different segments of the cardiac cycle, knowledge about the main waves of the ECG should be recaptured.

During normal sinus rhythm, depolarization of the right atrium followed by left atrium takes place. So, the first wave coming from atria are named P wave. After that, there is AV nodal delay resulting a horizontal line and this is named as PR interval. This portion is one of the static phases of the heart. Depolarization of the ventricles are named as QRS complex. Initially the Q wave have a negative deflection. The next is R wave with an upward deflection and again S wave as a downward deflection. It slightly goes negative at its end point and then comes along the isoelectric line. And after that, there is a last electrical wave called the T wave and the duration is called ST segment which is usually isoelectric. (Figure 3) There are some standard measurements of the waves and intervals.



Figure 3 Normal ECG waves with intervals [120].

2.2.2 Measuring Q-T interval

- The QT interval is measured in lead II or in lead V5 and V6 in successive beats of the cardiac cycle. (Figure 4)
- When the U waves are large, (more than 1mm) and if it is fused with the T wave then it should be counted.
- But if the U waves are small those should be excluded.
- From the beginning of the QRS complex, the starting point of QT is considered and it ends up to the end of the T wave.



Figure 4 Different patterns of measuring Q-T interval [121], [122].

2.2.3 Measuring P-R interval

• P-R interval is measured from the start point of the P wave and ends at the start of the QRS complex. (Figure 5)



Figure 5 Measuring of P-R interval [123].

2.2.4 Measuring R-R interval

It is the distance measured from the peak of one R wave to the peak of another R wave of the next cardiac cycle. (Figure 5). In this study we measured the R-R interval for all the patients. Then the reconstruction phases are plotted. Length of R-R interval can vary from beat to beat. So, we measured only those in which the X-ray beams were kept on.

2.3 ECG VIEWER

This is not an instrument rather a software which is used for the study. This software can measure different aspects of the ECG wave very easily and accurately. After collecting patient data through a portable hard drive, they are transferred in a computer and then opened with this software for accurate measurement. This software has reduced the study time in a great extent and the data could be easily plotted from there to a spreadsheet. One of the special features of this software is, it can mark the portion of the ECG wave when the x-ray beam emitted from the CT machine. So, we can easily find out which waves have to be measured. Because, the other waves are irrelevant to get measured as they don't have any role on image reconstruction process. We wanted only those waves during which the images were captured by the CT machine for future reconstruction for getting the diagnostic images. The software can also measure the related intervals of those focused waves.

CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 STUDY POPULATION

Initially 200 patients were selected from the patients who are referred by the clinicians. The patients were selected during the period of January 2017 to July 2018. After admitting to the Radiology department, the initial measurements including the patient weight and others were taken. Then written consent was taken from the patients. Examining the prescription and questionnaire of the study, the radiologists decides whether the patient will go for a helical scan or not. In this process 44 patients were selected by the radiologist for helical scan and 18 patients were indicated for helical scan. So, they were excluded from the study. Three patients were excluded due to different types of severe arrhythmia.

Patients of severe arrhythmia have been excluded especially supraventricular tachycardia, ventricular fibrillation, ventricular tachycardia. However, our intention was to include patients of all categories. For this purpose, some of the patients of severe arrhythmia who can follow the instructions and can hold the breath properly in initial practice session just before the start of the actual scan were included. They were asked to hold the breath for few seconds and then the cardiac cycle pattern was observed by the radiologist and the radiographer. Then if the decision is inclusive, two or four beats were covered in the actual scan so that one of them gives the best result.

Patients with renal dysfunction, and known allergic reactions to the contrast medium are excluded from the study. Patients indicated for helical scan are also excluded from the study because in helical scans the patient is scanned continuously from starting to the end point. So, it is out of the point of interest of this study as we are trying to evaluate a specific portion of the cardiac phase.

One patient did not agree to perform the due to fear of the process. One was excluded due to unfavorable condition. Two patients had history of allergy for contrast materials. So, they were excluded from the study. Three patients were excluded as their data were not being viewed properly on the ECG viewer software. In this process total of 72 patients were excluded from the study. And finally, 128 patients were included in the study. A complete flow chart is added below for this whole process. The study was performed at the University of Tokyo Hospital which is a highly equipped hospital with various types of patients available. For this reason, the study was able to include fair amount of coronary cases in a limited span of time. The patients usually come to the Radiology department after getting referred from the clinicians and surgeons. Then after some official procedures we get their details in the patient database including their registration numbers. They were given a specific appointment for performing the investigation and after completion of a check list the process takes place.

The flow chart below shows the steps of patient inclusion and exclusion.



3.2 DURATION OF THE STUDY

The CT images has been obtained in routine clinical practice during an 18-month period from January 2017 to July 2018 and analyzed in a retrospective approach. All the patients underwent CTCAG through the 320-row slice CT (Aquilion One vision edition, Toshiba, Japan). Approval from the ethics committee has been received for the study. The IRB approval number is 2561-(18).

3.3 STUDY PROCEDURE

Along with the completion of the check list, a written informed consent for CT scan is taken from the patients including the routine questioners. Regular measurements including the blood reports and weight of the patients are collected. The radiologist and the technologist performing the study evaluate the collected information and decide for the feasibility of the examination. In the meantime, patient preparation takes place. The patients are carefully instructed about the procedure.

An IV channel is kept open and the CT scanner is equipped with contrast and saline injector. A doctor connected the channel with the injector and tested whether it had been correctly working or not. Sublingual β -blocker was applied to the relevant cases whenever applicable following safe administration protocol. It is administered by a cardiologist present during the study. One or two sprays of nitroglycerine are administered to the patient sublingually after a little counselling by the cardiologist himself. Beta blocker have some adverse effects though it regulates and reduces the heart rate. It is not administered in some conditions including the patients with severe asthma.

The technologist in presence of the radiologists investigated the heart rate and monitoring the ECG pattern and other features decides for a protocol for the patient. After taking a pilot scan they make changes to the settings of the different parameters of the study including the tube current, voltage as well as the number of beats the scan would take place. After a thorough checking, the radiologist finally gives proper instruction to the patient about the procedures and comes out from the CT room. Then the study starts, contrast was injected and the patient was instructed for a breath hold after a certain time for a few seconds. At the same time the ECG beats are recorded the leads of which are already attached on the chest of the patient. The ECG recording is controlled by a remote control. When the patient is asked for a breath hold the ECG recording is started by pressing the remote. This is how the ECG data are collected at the same of the scan proceeds. When the enhancement in the vessels reaches a certain limit of Hounsfield Unit the scanner is started and collects the necessary imaging data. So, through these processes the CT scanner collects the imaging information and the ECG machine collects the details of the cardiac cycle.

Just after the scanning is done, the patient is asked to release his/her breath hold status and the examination is ended from the patient's side. The radiologist then views the data and checks whether the images were correctly collected or not. Then the images were reconstructed for the best phase for the visualization of the coronary vessels. There is specific software for the reconstruction process and data were transferred to the specific computer containing the software. The reconstruction process is performed. The whole process is performed by the radiologist.

The reconstruction process is finished in few minutes. Then the radiologist can view the reconstructed data and can make the diagnostic evaluation. During the reconstruction process the radiologist determines the best phase on which the reconstruction of the data should take place for the best image quality. That specific point is kept recorded in the data collection sheet. It is also saved in the software for future rechecking.

The image is considered optimal when the image visualization level is acceptable for the necessary diagnosis. The radiologist has reviewed all the coronary arteries along with the most prone areas where artifacts can be found. The image data are continuously reconstructed and checked until the lumen of all the arteries are well visualized or the stents and internal plaques are well detected. Images from all of the patients are evaluated in the same way until the diagnosis could be made satisfactorily. And these images are considered as the best optimal images which are clinically important.

Besides the processing and reconstruction of the data the ECG data were collected from the ECG machine which were recorded during the examination procedure. The data was first collected from the ECG machine by a portable USB drive and then it is transferred in a different computer that we used for the research. We also used a special software named "ECG Viewer". (Figure 6). This software has the ability to analyze the different aspects of the ECG data. We can also measure the different phase of the cardiac cycles. It also shows the point of coronary cycle in which the x-ray beam was active. So, if multiple beats were used for scanning in a specific case then we can detect on which point among those beats the x-ray beams were active.



Figure 6 Image of the home screen of the ECG Viewer software.

When the ECG data were transferred to the ECG viewer software we can open and view the data of any patient through the software. In this process, we opened the data of every patient and measured our required parameters and wrote them in a tabulated form on the data collection sheet. Then the data were analyzed statistically through JMP software. Then the data were analyzed statistically through JMP software (JMP pro Version 14.0). Various statistical methods have been used. The distribution of the diagnostic phases of both groups were analyzed by using the distribution analysis system of the JMP software. Bivariate fit of the reconstruction phases and heart rate were analyzed using the Fit Y by X of JMP. Correlation between heart rate and the diagnostic phase was performed by using the multivariate method of JMP (The Pearson Correlation Coefficient). Also, the common statistical issues were solved by using the existing facility of Microsoft Excel software (Version 2016 Office Home and Student edition).

3.4 RELATION WITH HEART RATE

Radiation is a very common issue discussing malignancy as it is a matter to be concerned among the causative factors related to produce malignancy [49], [124]–[126]. Various dose-saving strategies is applied in the field of radiological examination procedures. And through many techniques, the radiation dose has also been reduced significantly [40]. Among them, ECG-triggering is one of the best effective technique [49], [50]. Prospective ECG-triggering can be determined by following some criteria and careful patient preparation [49]. In prospective ECG-triggering the X-ray beam is kept on in a specific segment of the cardiac cycle. The beam is off on the other segments. If the patient is ECG gated, the radiologist and the technologist can evaluate the cardiac beat pattern of the patient. Then it is possible to decide whether it will be enough to scan a single beat or not. If the cardiac cycle pattern of the patient is regular, then the examination can be proceeded with a single heart beat scan. But if the heart beat is irregular or very high, then the radiologist or the technologist have to decide to scan multiple beats or even for a continuous helical scan. As there is a protocol change for the change of heart beats and pattern of heart beats, there may be a possibility of having any relation between them when we search for a best phase for reconstruction of the coronary scan image data. As reconstruction is performed only at a specific portion of the cardiac cycle, it means that there may be a specific portion of the cardiac cycle on which we can get the best quality image. The heart is a continuously moving organ opening a door of motion artifact [21], [23], [59], [88], [98], [127]. However, there are some points at which it is most stable or relatively slower. Side by side, there are advancement of the CT scanners that delivers good quality image even at the state of motion. By the advanced technology of removing motion artifacts and faster scanning capabilities more accurate evaluation of the correlation of cardiac phase and reconstruction phase should be performed [17], [23], [98], [127]. If there is any further better relation among them, then less portion of the cardiac cycle can be scanned for getting the best image as well as less amount of radiation will be enough for carrying out the purpose of the examination which will ultimately reduce the time of radiation exposure and will play good role on reducing the radiation hazard. For faster scanner synchronized with ECG will open the possibility of reducing the scanning time by targeting the relevant portion of the cardiac cycle.

3.5 CT DATA ACQUISITION

The angiography was performed with a second-generation 320-row CT (Aquilion ONE ViSION edition; Toshiba Medical Systems, Tochigi, Japan) along with ECG gating. CT scan tube potential was 80 KVp; gantry rotation time was 275 ms; and tube current was determined by auto exposure control.

Standard scanning protocol was followed using specific settings of detector collimation, table feed per rotation, and rotation time. About 80–100 ml of non-ionic contrast medium (320mg/ml, 370mg/ml iodine) was injected intravenously. The flow rate was 3.0 ml/s via a 20G catheter in a cubital vein. No post-contrast saline injection was used. When the density level in the ascending aorta at the level of carina reaches to 200 Hounsfield units (HU), the patient was asked to take an inspiratory breath hold for about 20–30s during data acquisition. The scan direction was cranio-caudal and it covered the area from the level of the right main pulmonary artery to the lower end of the heart. Previous study also showed that CT imaging with ECG triggering had high diagnostic accuracy [49]. Radiation dose was also significantly reduced with prospective triggering technique as the data acquisition takes place in specific part of the cardiac cycle [47], [49], [54], [128]. It is to be noted that, the previous studies were performed in relatively slower CT machines. For this reason, they could not get better image when the heart rate was higher. Usually their recommendation for prospective ECG was for the patients having heart rate

less than 70 or 65 beats per minute [49]. And the recent scanners are faster than those. For this reason, it is obvious that possibility of reducing the radiation dose is more in the newer faster scanners [26], [129]. As the scanner we used for this study is faster than those that were previously used, there could be a better chance of having a good correlation and that could play big role in radiation dose reduction issues.

3.6 IMAGE RECONSTRUCTION

After the acquisition of the scanned data, the reconstruction process was performed by an expert radiologist who decided the best phase for the image quality to make the correct diagnosis. The reconstruction parameters varied from 160–200 mm Field of View (FOV) depending on the body configuration of the patient. 1 mm slice thickness was kept with 0.5 mm of increments.

The ECG data were recorded simultaneously as the study progresses. Recording started just at the starting of the contrast introduction and stopped when the examination ended. And the patient was asked to release the holding breath. Single beat or continuous beats were scanned as necessary. After collecting the data, they were shifted to a software named 'ECG Viewer' for assessing the different aspects of the ECG wave invented by Chronos Medical Device, Chiba, Japan. Different intervals of the ECG were measured irrespective of heart rate and later on arranged and compared with the reconstruction phase. P-R and Q-T were measured for the patients having heart rate \leq 75 beats per minute. And in addition, S to the end of T had been measured for the patients who had heart rate higher than 75 beats per minute. These measurement parameters were selected from the analysis of the previous studies.



Figure 7 Image of the ECG Viewer software with the measuring parameters.

By the ECG viewer software, we can measure the different aspects of the ECG wave along with the reconstruction phase. The red lines are the automatically measured portions. The yellow lines indicate the moment when the patient was exposed with the X-ray beams. (Figure 7). For this study, we measured only those cardiac cycles when the X-ray was kept on. First the R-R is measured following the diagnostic phase and then PR and QT intervals were measured respectively.

CHAPTER 4 ANALYSIS

4.1 SUBJECTIVE IMAGE ANALYSIS

Subjective image quality was finalized by a cardiovascular radiologist who has 15 years of experience in pediatric and cardiovascular radiology. The radiologist was kept blind about the details of the CT datasets, which were provided in a randomized order.

4.2 IMAGE EVALUATION

All the image data that were reconstructed by a method called FIRST and were transferred to a computer workstation for post-processing (ZAIO M900, Zaiosoft, Tokyo, Japan). Evaluation of the coronary arteries was performed on this workstation by thinslab maximum intensity projection and sagittal or coronal multi-planner reformation images. The right coronary artery (RCA: proximal and distal portion), left main coronary artery (LMCA), the left anterior descending artery (LAD: proximal portion and 1st diagonal branch) and the left circumflex artery (LCX: proximal portion of the RCA, proximal portion of the LAD and proximal portion of the RCA, distal portion of the RCA, proximal portion of the LAD and proximal portion of the LCX were defined as segments #1 and #2, #3 and #4PD, #6 and #7, and #11 and #13, respectively, in accordance with the classification used by the American Heart Association. The radiologist also evaluated the other relevant patient specific parameters case by case.

A board-certified radiologist evaluated the reconstructed images. For calcified or stented coronary arteries continuity and visibility of the vessel walls were also evaluated.

The table below shows that various conditions have been diagnosed through the study among which LAD stenosis are the most frequent. About 26 patients had stenosis in LAD. On the other hand, 3 patients had stenosis in RCA. It is to be noted that there were some cases of stenting, meaning that they were previously diagnosed as patients of stenosis and had gone through stenting. So, we kept them in a separate group as the aim

of the scan was to detect whether there is any new In-Stent Restenosis or not. Among those patients, 7 patients had restenosis and 5 had no restenosis. Patients having three or two vessels disease are also plotted separately in different rows. Patients having uncommon diagnosis has been kept in other categories on the table. Normal findings were observed in 39 patients. (Table 1).

Table 1: Radiological Diagnoses of the 128 studied patients.

Conditions	No of pts	% of total
LAD 50% stenosis	19	14.84%
LAD 75% stenosis	4	3.12%
LAD 75-90% stenosis	3	2.34%
RCA 75% stenosis	1	0.78%
RCA 75-90% stenosis	2	1.56%
In-Stent restenosis	7	5.47%
No In-Stent restenosis	5	3.91%
3 vessels disease	12	9.38%
2 vessels disease	14	10.94%
Single vessel disease	8	6.25%
Normal findings	39	30.47%
Others	14	10.94%

4.3 COMPARISON OF THE RECONSTRUCTION

The patients were divided into 2 groups according to their average HR (beats/min). One group consisted patients having heart rate ≤ 75 beats/min (n=98), and another group consisted above 75 beats/min (n=30). The average HR in each case was defined as the average for the total cardiac cycle during data acquisition.

The table below showing that, among the 98 patients who had heart rate ≤ 75 beats/min, 66 were male and 32 were female. And among the other 30 patients having heart rate more than 75 beats/min, 20 patients were male and 10 were female. So, in our study, total number of male patients was 86 and number of females was 42. (Table 2) History of smoking or diabetes or the other conditions were collected in a questionnaire supplied from the hospital which is filled up for all patients. But as their details are irrelevant with this study so those are not mentioned here in detail.

Table 2: Patient's age with heart rate.

HR	Male	Female	Total
\leq 75 beats/min	66 (51.56%)	32 (25%)	98 (76.56%)
> 75 beats/min	20 (15.63%)	10 (7.81%)	30 (23.44%)
Grand total	86 (67.19%)	42 (32.81%)	128 (100%)



Figure 8: Distribution of diagnostic phase (Reconstruction Phase in percentage of R-R) with HR in all 128 pts.

The heart rate and diagnostic phase was plotted in the above figure. The blue dots indicate the diagnostic phase of all 128 patients of the study. (Figure 8). Here we see that the diagnostic phases are closely aggregated in low heart rate patients and relatively scattered in high heart rate cases.





Figure 9: Distribution of diagnostic phase location if R-R= 100. in patients with HR \leq 75 beats per minute.

The figure above attempted to visualize the distribution of the best image reconstruction point on an R-R scale in 98 patients having heart rate \leq 75 beats per minute. Here it is clearly visible that most of the points are closely aggregated between 66% to 82% of the R-R interval. And the mean distribution is 74 ± 4 (SD) (Figure 9). Three patients show reconstruction above the range. It is also observed that among the 98 patients, the optimal image was found before the P wave in 62 patients (63.26%). And 19 cases (19.39%) found over the P wave and 9 cases (9.18%) after that. Image at the end of the T wave was found in only 8 cases (8.16%).

Also, the second group is as follows.



Figure 10: Distribution of diagnostic phase location on R-R length in patients with HR > 75 beats per minute.

The figure above attempted to visualize the distribution of the best image reconstruction point on an R-R scale in 30 patients having heart rate > 75 beats per minute. (Figure 10). Here it is clearly visible that most of the points are irregularly scattered though the frequency is observed at QT. And the mean distribution is 61 ± 18 (SD) (Figure 10). It could be mentioned that, among the 30 cases, reconstruction phase of the 9 cases (30.0%) were after the T wave, 8 cases (26.67%) were at the slope of T wave, 3 cases (10.0%) were at the end of the T wave, 2 cases (6.67%) were over the T wave, 3 cases (10.0%) were before the T wave, 1 case (3.33%) over P wave and lastly 4 cases (13.33%) showed before P wave.



Figure 11 Distribution of the diagnostic phases in two groups.

The distribution charts showing that the mean diagnostic phase is 74 ± 4 (SD) in patients having HR ≤ 75 b/m and 61 ± 18 (SD) in patients having HR > 75 b/m. So, the distribution is scattered in higher heart rates. One patient has the diagnostic phase at 93%. (Figure 11).

The chart below shows the relation between R-R interval and the Reconstruction phase. Here we see that they appear symmetrical on the left side which is asymmetrical on the right side. (Figure 12). The horizontal numbers indicate the patients' serial number arranged per heart rate. That means, up to the first 98 patients the heart rate was ≤ 75 beats per minute and after that the heart rate was higher. It is clearly seen that the relation became asymmetrical when the heart rate became very high.



Figure 12 Comparison of R-R interval with Reconstruction phase. (R-R = Blue; Reconstruction Phase = Red)

As the heart rate increases the reconstruction phase moves to QT instead of PR. However, the rules are very scattered for high heart rate patients as the reconstruction phase can even be observed in PR interval.



Figure 13 Bivariate Fit of Reconstruction Phase by Heart Rate for the patients who have heart rate \leq 75 beats per minute.



Figure 14 Bivariate Fit of Reconstruction Phase by Heart Rate for the patients who have heart rate \ge 75 beats per minute.

The above two figures show that the density ellipsoid is more circular when the heart rate is \geq 75 beats per minute meaning that there is less correlation between the variables in higher heart rates. (Figure 13 and 14).



Figure 15 Suitable zone of getting the reconstruction phase for patients with HR \leq 75 beats per minute.

After analyzing the data, it is assumed that the most frequent location of getting the best image is around the P wave if the heart rates are ≤ 75 beats per minute. This is a small portion of the whole cardiac cycle which is actually responsible for necessary image formation in most of the cases. (Figure 15).

CHAPTER 5 RESULT

Among the 128 patients 98 were men and 30 women, age 67 ± 12 years (mean \pm standard deviation)]. Age range: 30–87 years and their mean HR during the examination was 67 beats/min (range: 49–93 beats/min).

Our result shows that when the heart rate is ≤ 75 beats/min the best reconstruction phase is found at PR (66% to 82% of the R-R interval) which is the diastolic phase of the cardiac cycle. But if the heart rate is > 75 beats/min then the reconstruction phase is found irregularly at QT of the ECG wave. In detail, for the first group of patients the optimum quality image was found before P wave in 63% cases, over P wave at 19% cases, after the P wave at 9% cases and end of the T wave is at 9% cases. Prospective scan affirms diagnostic phase if the heart rate is lower. Therefore, the optimal necessary image for making the diagnosis was found at PR for the patients having heart rate ≤ 75 beats/min and on QT for the patients having HR > 75 beats/min.

CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION

Detection of Reconstruction phase in real time can provide the exact cardiac phase [67]. And visibility of the coronary vessels highly depends on heart rate [88]. Another study revealed that there is a relation of the reconstruction phase when the HR is slower and for getting the best image quality the maximum heart rate should have to be 65 beats/min [42], [88]. Due to the advancement of the faster scanners it became possible to extend the limit of this range. This study revealed that when the heart rate is \leq 75 beats/min the reconstruction phase is observed at the diastolic phase with FIRST which was similar to some other studies except their highest range of heart beat was lower [17], [42], [58], [88], [105]. P. A. Araoz *et al.* divided the two groups of patients at 70 beats per minute level [60]. But due to use of faster scanner limit could be raised. Therefore, the heart rate range is raised from 65 to 75 beats/min. And we found that the faster scanners are capable to give similar findings among this patient group with relatively higher heart rates [19], [103]. Therefore, this study extended it up to 75 beats/min. This finding is similar to another study using dual source CT angiography except their maximum heart rate range was below than our study [88], [104].

ECG gating with a 64 Slice CT scanner provided useful phase detection for a wide range of heart rates [59]. And ECG gating increases the image quality even in the pediatric patients [20], [131]. This study included a 320 Slice scanner with ECG gating which helped to increase the range. The collected data on the ECG graph (R-R mean) were tabulated with the reconstruction phase along with the diagnostic phase. And it revealed a regular correlation stated in charts above. In 62 patients the best reconstruction phase was seen to be placed just before the P wave, in 19 patients reconstruction phase was just over the P wave, in 8 patients it was observed after the P wave and in another 8 patients the best image was formed at the end of the T wave who have relatively higher heart rates.

P. A. Araoz *et al.* found that for low heart rate patients the best image sharpness is observed at 65% to 70% of the reconstruction phase and for high heart rate patients the range is 35% to 45% [60]. However, in this study the range is 63% to 83% for the patients having heart rate less than 75 beats per minute. And for the high heart rate patients there is no specific range found rather the best quality image was observed at different ranges

which could not be bracketed by a specific range. The above group also studied on 4 vessles including the right coronary artery (RCA), left main (LM), left anterior decending (LAD) and circumflex (Cx) arteries but this study evaluated every segment of all of the coronary vessels. The study also excluded phases below 25% and above 75% for reconstruction, however, our study included the full range for getting the best phase for quality image. The study also made a score system of their own to classify image quality, however, our study attempted for the best one rather than making gradation for low category images.

The reconstruction phase data for the 98 patients who have heart rate \leq 75 beats/min were plotted over a chart and the distribution appears homogenous. But the second group of 30 patients who have heart rate higher than 75 beats/min didn't show similar findings, rather they are located at Q-T of the cardiac cycle. Some of the cases followed the reconstruction phase with end-systolic and early-diastolic intervals in patients having high heart rate though they used lower slice CT scanner equipment [58], [59]. The software used in different studies for reconstruction was sometime different [59]. However, the expected image quality could be achieved through reconstruction though the phase location varies in patients with high heart rates [19]. This findings is similar to another study where their projection was above 65 beats/min [130]. So, it could be concluded that when the heart rate is higher the reconstruction phase location can be scattered though most of them are at the systolic phases. However, highpitch dual-source CT angiogram may be performed for patients having heart rate less than 70 beats/min for optimum image quality [103]. The R-R mean is also compared with the reconstruction phase and the diagnostic phase. It appears that they are proportionate to eachother. The lower the heart rate the higher the R-R mean as well as the diagnostic and reconstruction phase.

In-stent restenosis by CT angiography has modest diagnostic accuracy [66]. Reconstruction phase in patients having coronary stents revealed similar findings in respect of heart rate irrespective of restenosis.

It is known that Iterative Reconstruction markedly improves image quality and does not affect radiation dose [20], [35], [131], [132]. And FIRST can reduce the radiation

does significantly [34], [38], [61], [132], [133]. Also the FIRST method improves the detection of coronary plaque [134], [135]. So it is was the method of choice as an upgraded solution for this study though adaptive statistical iterative reconstruction method could balance image quality with other radiation parameters [136], [137].

There was some limitation of the study from the ECG software side. The 'ECG Viewer' software is a special software that can measure the various aspects of the ECG wave as well as x ray exposure and detection of the location of the reconstruction phase. However, it does not save the time of scan of the CT scanner machine, rather it saves its own time. So, we had to keep the time records manually for every patient. This problem could not be solved as the ECG viewer is not a part of the CT scan machine and the software companies for the CT scan and ECG viewer are different. We also excluded patients who performed helical scan. And radiation doses were not measured in this study.

CHAPTER 7 CONCLUSION

There is a positive correlation of the reconstruction phase with the specific cardiac phase in patients having heart rate \leq 75 beats per minute in an advanced setting irrespective of R-R mean. The optimally necessary images were obtained at P-R or the diastolic phase of the cardiac cycle in patients with HR \leq 75 beats/min or from 66% to 82% of the R-R interval. And if the HR is more than 75 beats/min, the reconstruction phase shifts to QT or at the late systolic phase of the cardiac cycle. We can set a protocol targeting this specific portion of the cardiac cycle that would reduce the radiation dose further. We also can set an auto-reconstruction mode in future CT console software that could narrow down the radiation dose, reduce the radiologist's effort as well as the diagnosis time.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

877 years back, on a cherry blossomed sunny day of April, the Meiji Govt. started this University by combining some old schools. They dreamt of collecting all the stones of knowledge one by one and spread them to every corner of the world for a bright future. On this occasion, I acknowledge those forgotten respected persons who belonged '*kokorozashi*' (Lion's Heart). When I touch an old stone of the campus and close my eyes, I can hear the centuries-old faded sounds of walking through the campus, twittering of old students, lectures of a sensei in a huge hall-room full of silence, or a book-worm in the library breathing deeply for an info-search, or the staffs with a strong morale working hours after hours. The mother nature poured her miracles of wisdom here along with fresh breeze, nourishing rain drops and the rising sun.

It was never been possible for a student like me from the third-world country to get the opportunity to dig this treasury of knowledge, if the predecessors of wisdom – Professor Osamu Abe, Professor Ohtomo Kuni and Professor Shigeki Aoki would have not been allowed me through precious letters. Their love, support, guidance and personality touched me deeply. I acknowledge the way of Professor Osamu Abe inspired me with great patience at my worst time of depression.

My thinking pattern of life changed when I met Dr. Eriko Maeda sensei, who is still working in the hospital after three times thoracic surgery, coming here wearing an oxygen mask - holding the cylinder in one hand, fighting like a victor with lung cancer and ultimately writing her stories with boldness. Her intimate smile, sense of humor and guidance are ever-inspiring for me.

I bow with utmost respect to few people who had unique qualities - like superbrilliant Kamiya sensei, disciplined Watadani sensei, out-of-the-box-thinker Amemiya sensei, cool Hanaoka sensei, emotional Namiki sensei, super smart Saori sensei, friendly Ino san, tech-expert Suzuki san, man with simplicity Kanno sensei, Supportive Shirota sensei, ever-smiling Kurokawa sensei, quick-helper Shirai san and Nakamura san, the staffs of Tokyo University General Library, Medical Library, Nihongo Center and Daigakuin Kakari who helped me stand on this lonely island brick by brick.

Last of all I thank Japanese Govt. for having this facility of culture and knowledge exchange through MEXT and the people of Japan who are paying taxes from their hard-

earnings that are being used for this international support and aid. Without their kindness and compassion for the rest of the world I could not achieve this unique and rare opportunity to be selected among the millions of foreign students.

These pieces of papers will witness my excavation of the Japanese culture, education, people and glorious history. My memories will lie under the soft ground of *Todai*. My sorrows will fall with the yellow leaves of the big *Gingko* trees of the campus. But the pulse of the *kokorozashi* left 877 years back will be seeded into my heart that will shift me the heroic sword of honor to work for Japan, my second home. I believe, if humanity ever wins over politics then Japan will rule the galaxy throughout and after of the edges of biotechnology. There are only two words for the world to learn – "Be Japan".

I thank my family and country-people who shaded and sacrificed their life for the betterment of future generation.

References:

- B. Desjardins and E. A. Kazerooni, "ECG-Gated Cardiac CT," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 182, no. 4, pp. 993–1010, Apr. 2004.
- [2] G. Montalescot *et al.*, "2013 ESC guidelines on the management of stable coronary artery disease: The Task Force on the management of stable coronary artery disease of the European Society of Cardiology," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 34, no. 38, pp. 2949–3003, Oct. 2013.
- [3] E. Maffei *et al.*, "Prognostic value of computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with chest pain of suspected cardiac origin," *Radiol. Med.*, vol. 116, no. 5, pp. 690–705, Aug. 2011.
- [4] A. I. Guaricci *et al.*, "The presence of remodeled and mixed atherosclerotic plaques at coronary ct angiography predicts major cardiac adverse events The CAFÉ-PIE Study," *Int. J. Cardiol.*, vol. 215, pp. 325–331, Jul. 2016.
- [5] G. Pontone *et al.*, "Rationale and design of the PERFECTION (comparison between stress cardiac computed tomography PERfusion versus Fractional flow rEserve measured by Computed Tomography angiography In the evaluation of suspected cOroNary artery disease) prospective study," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 330–334, Jul. 2016.
- [6] G. L. Raff, M. J. Gallagher, W. W. O'Neill, and J. A. Goldstein, "Diagnostic Accuracy of Noninvasive Coronary Angiography Using 64-Slice Spiral Computed Tomography," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 552–557, Aug. 2005.
- [7] H. Scheffel *et al.*, "Accuracy of dual-source CT coronary angiography: first experience in a high pre-test probability population without heart rate control," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 2739–2747, Nov. 2006.
- [8] A. C. Weustink *et al.*, "Reliable High-Speed Coronary Computed Tomography in Symptomatic Patients," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 786–794, Aug. 2007.
- T. R. C. Johnson *et al.*, "Diagnostic Accuracy of Dual-Source Computed Tomography in the Diagnosis of Coronary Artery Disease," *Invest. Radiol.*, vol. 42, no. 10, pp. 684–691, Oct. 2007.

- [10] U. Ropers *et al.*, "Influence of Heart Rate on the Diagnostic Accuracy of Dual-Source Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 50, no. 25, pp. 2393–2398, Dec. 2007.
- [11] S. Leschka *et al.*, "Diagnostic accuracy of high-pitch dual-source CT for the assessment of coronary stenoses: first experience," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 2896–2903, Dec. 2009.
- K. U. Juergens *et al.*, "Using ECG-Gated Multidetector CT to Evaluate Global Left Ventricular Myocardial Function in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 179, no. 6, pp. 1545–1550, Dec. 2002.
- [13] T. J. Noto *et al.*, "Cardiac catheterization 1990: A report of the registry of the society for cardiac angiography and interventions (SCA&I)," *Cathet. Cardiovasc. Diagn.*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 75–83, Oct. 1991.
- [14] L. MS, "Exercise electrocardiogram testing and prognosis. Novel markers and predictive instruments. - PubMed - NCBI." [Online]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11570113. [Accessed: 05-Sep-2019].
- [15] A. Audet *et al.*, "ACC / AHA Practice Guidelines ACC / AHA Guidelines for Coronary Angiography : Executive Summary and Recommendations," *Circulation*, vol. 99, pp. 2345–2357, 1999.
- [16] K. Nieman *et al.*, "Non-invasive coronary angiography with multislice spiral computed tomography: impact of heart rate.," *Heart*, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. 470–4, Nov. 2002.
- [17] C. Hong *et al.*, "ECG-gated Reconstructed Multi–Detector Row CT Coronary Angiography: Effect of Varying Trigger Delay on Image Quality," *Radiology*, vol. 220, no. 3, pp. 712–717, Sep. 2001.
- [18] S.-Z. Zhang, X.-H. Hu, Q.-W. Zhang, and W.-X. Huang, "Evaluation of computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with a high heart rate using 16-slice spiral computed tomography with 0.37-s gantry rotation time," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1105–1109, Jun. 2005.
- [19] D. Matt *et al.*, "Dual-Source CT Coronary Angiography: Image Quality, Mean Heart Rate, and Heart Rate Variability," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 189, no. 3, pp. 567–573, Sep. 2007.
- [20] C. A. Barrera, H. J. Otero, A. M. White, D. Saul, and D. M. Biko, "Image quality

and radiation dose of ECG-triggered High-Pitch Dual-Source cardiac computed tomography angiography in children for the evaluation of central vascular stents," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 367–374, 2019.

- [21] K. Nieman *et al.*, "Coronary angiography with multi-slice computed tomography," *Lancet*, vol. 357, no. 9256, pp. 599–603, Feb. 2001.
- [22] N. R. Mollet *et al.*, "Multislice spiral computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with stable angina pectoris," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 2265–2270, Jun. 2004.
- [23] E. MARTUSCELLI *et al.*, "Accuracy of thin-slice computed tomography in the detection of coronary stenoses," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1043–1048, Jun. 2004.
- [24] D. Oncel, G. Oncel, A. Tastan, and B. Tamci, "Evaluation of Coronary Stent Patency and In-Stent Restenosis with Dual-Source CT Coronary Angiography Without Heart Rate Control," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 191, no. 1, pp. 56–63, Jul. 2008.
- [25] N. R. Mollet *et al.*, "High-Resolution Spiral Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography in Patients Referred for Diagnostic Conventional Coronary Angiography," *Circulation*, vol. 112, no. 15, pp. 2318–2323, Oct. 2005.
- [26] S. Leschka *et al.*, "Accuracy of MSCT coronary angiography with 64-slice technology: first experience," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 26, no. 15, pp. 1482–1487, Aug. 2005.
- [27] J. M. Miller *et al.*, "Diagnostic Performance of Coronary Angiography by 64-Row CT," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 359, no. 22, pp. 2324–2336, Nov. 2008.
- [28] S. Motoyama *et al.*, "Computed Tomographic Angiography Characteristics of Atherosclerotic Plaques Subsequently Resulting in Acute Coronary Syndrome," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 49–57, Jun. 2009.
- [29] T. Cyrus, R. J. Gropler, and P. K. Woodard, "Coronary CT angiography (CCTA) and advances in CT plaque imaging," *J. Nucl. Cardiol.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 466– 473, Jun. 2009.
- [30] F. J. Rybicki *et al.*, "Prediction of coronary artery plaque progression and potential rupture from 320-detector row prospectively ECG-gated single heart beat CT angiography: Lattice Boltzmann evaluation of endothelial shear stress," *Int. J.*

Cardiovasc. Imaging, vol. 25, no. S2, pp. 289–299, Aug. 2009.

- [31] P. G. Ramkumar, D. Mitsouras, C. L. Feldman, P. H. Stone, and F. J. Rybicki, "New advances in cardiac computed tomography," *Curr. Opin. Cardiol.*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 596–603, Nov. 2009.
- [32] J. Hausleiter *et al.*, "Estimated Radiation Dose Associated With Cardiac CT Angiography," *JAMA*, vol. 301, no. 5, p. 500, Feb. 2009.
- [33] G. L. Raff *et al.*, "Radiation Dose From Cardiac Computed Tomography Before and After Implementation of Radiation Dose–Reduction Techniques," *JAMA*, vol. 301, no. 22, p. 2340, Jun. 2009.
- [34] N. Tomizawa, E. Maeda, M. Akahane, R. Torigoe, S. Kiryu, and K. Ohtomo, "Coronary CT angiography using the second-generation 320-detector row CT: Assessment of image quality and radiation dose in various heart rates compared with the first-generation scanner," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 1613–1618, 2013.
- [35] K. P. Chang, T. K. Hsu, W. T. Lin, and W. L. Hsu, "Optimization of dose and image quality in adult and pediatric computed tomography scans," *Radiat. Phys. Chem.*, vol. 140, no. January, pp. 260–265, 2017.
- [36] M. Y. Chen, S. M. Shanbhag, and A. E. Arai, "Submillisievert Median Radiation Dose for Coronary Angiography with a Second-Generation 320–Detector Row CT Scanner in 107 Consecutive Patients," *http://dx.doi.org/10.1148/radiol.13122621*, Apr. 2013.
- [37] G. Pontone *et al.*, "Impact of an intra-cycle motion correction algorithm on overall evaluability and diagnostic accuracy of computed tomography coronary angiography," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 147–156, Jan. 2016.
- [38] Y. Iyama *et al.*, "Submillisievert Radiation Dose Coronary CT Angiography: Clinical Impact of the Knowledge-Based Iterative Model Reconstruction," *Acad. Radiol.*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 1393–1401, 2016.
- [39] P. V. M. Linsen, A. Coenen, M. M. Lubbers, M. L. Dijkshoorn, M. Ouhlous, and K. Nieman, "Computed Tomography Angiography with a 192-slice Dual-source Computed Tomography System: Improvements in Image Quality and Radiation Dose.," J. Clin. Imaging Sci., vol. 6, p. 44, 2016.
- [40] A. J. Einstein et al., "Radiation Dose from Single-Heartbeat Coronary CT

Angiography Performed with a 320-Detector Row Volume Scanner 1," *Radiol. n Radiol.*, vol. 254, no. 3, 2010.

- [41] A. Manmadhachary, Y. Ravi Kumar, and L. Krishnanand, "Effect of CT acquisition parameters of spiral CT on image quality and radiation dose," *Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed.*, vol. 103, pp. 18–26, 2017.
- [42] Y. Nagatani *et al.*, "Multidetector-row computed tomography coronary angiography: optimization of image reconstruction phase according to the heart rate.," *Circ. J.*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 112–21, Jan. 2007.
- [43] J. Hausleiter *et al.*, "Feasibility of dual-source cardiac CT angiography with highpitch scan protocols," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 236–242, Jul. 2009.
- [44] M. Lell *et al.*, "High-Pitch Electrocardiogram-Triggered Computed Tomography of the Chest," *Invest. Radiol.*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 728–733, Nov. 2009.
- [45] S. Achenbach *et al.*, "Coronary computed tomography angiography with a consistent dose below 1 mSv using prospectively electrocardiogram-triggered high-pitch spiral acquisition," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 340–346, Feb. 2010.
- [46] B. Bischoff *et al.*, "Comparison of Sequential and Helical Scanning for Radiation Dose and Image Quality: Results of the Prospective Multicenter Study on Radiation Dose Estimates of Cardiac CT Angiography (PROTECTION) I Study," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 194, no. 6, pp. 1495–1499, Jun. 2010.
- [47] W. P. Shuman *et al.*, "Prospective versus Retrospective ECG Gating for 64-Detector CT of the Coronary Arteries: Comparison of Image Quality and Patient Radiation Dose," *Radiology*, vol. 248, no. 2, pp. 431–437, Aug. 2008.
- [48] W.-H. Yin *et al.*, "Detection of coronary artery stenosis with sub-milliSievert radiation dose by prospectively ECG-triggered high-pitch spiral CT angiography and iterative reconstruction," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 2927–2933, Nov. 2013.
- [49] Z. Sun, "Coronary CT angiography with prospective ECG-triggering: an effective alternative to invasive coronary angiography.," *Cardiovasc. Diagn. Ther.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 28–37, Mar. 2012.
- [50] M. L. Steigner *et al.*, "Narrowing the phase window width in prospectively ECG-gated single heart beat 320-detector row coronary CT angiography," *Int. J.*

Cardiovasc. Imaging, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 85–90, Jan. 2009.

- [51] T. C. Gerber, B. P. Stratmann, R. S. Kuzo, B. Kantor, and R. L. Morin, "Effect of Acquisition Technique on Radiation Dose and Image Quality in Multidetector Row Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography With Submillimeter Collimation," *Invest. Radiol.*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 556–563, Aug. 2005.
- [52] J. P. Earls *et al.*, "Prospectively Gated Transverse Coronary CT Angiography versus Retrospectively Gated Helical Technique: Improved Image Quality and Reduced Radiation Dose," *Radiology*, vol. 246, no. 3, pp. 742–753, Mar. 2008.
- [53] W. P. Shuman *et al.*, "Prospective versus Retrospective ECG Gating for 64-Detector CT of the Coronary Arteries: Comparison of Image Quality and Patient Radiation Dose," *Radiology*, vol. 248, no. 2, pp. 431–437, Aug. 2008.
- [54] N. Hirai *et al.*, "Prospective versus Retrospective ECG-gated 64-Detector Coronary CT Angiography: Assessment of Image Quality, Stenosis, and Radiation Dose," *Radiology*, vol. 248, no. 2, pp. 424–430, Aug. 2008.
- [55] S. Achenbach *et al.*, "High-pitch spiral acquisition: A new scan mode for coronary CT angiography," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 117–121, Mar. 2009.
- [56] N. Tomizawa, S. Kanno, E. Maeda, M. Akahane, R. Torigoe, and K. Ohtomo, "Minimizing the acquisition phase in coronary CT angiography using the second generation 320-row CT," *Jpn. J. Radiol.*, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 391–396, Jul. 2014.
- [57] P. Kanako K. Kumamaru, MD, Bernice E. Hoppel, PhD, Richard T. Mather and P. Frank J. Rybicki, MD, "CT Angiography: Current Technology and Clinical Use," *NIH Public Access, Author Manuscr.*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 213–235, 2011.
- [58] C. Herzog *et al.*, "Multi–Detector Row CT Coronary Angiography: Influence of Reconstruction Technique and Heart Rate on Image Quality," *Radiology*, vol. 238, no. 1, pp. 75–86, Jan. 2006.
- [59] S. Leschka *et al.*, "Noninvasive Coronary Angiography with 64-Section CT: Effect of Average Heart Rate and Heart Rate Variability on Image Quality," *Radiology*, vol. 241, no. 2, pp. 378–385, Nov. 2006.
- [60] P. A. Araoz *et al.*, "Optimal image reconstruction phase at low and high heart rates in dual-source CT coronary angiography.," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 837–45, Dec. 2009.

- [61] E. Maeda *et al.*, "Subjective and objective evaluation of 10–30% dose reduced coronary artery phantom scans reconstructed with Forward projected model-based Iterative Reconstruction SoluTion (FIRST)," *Data Br.*, vol. 10, pp. 210–214, 2017.
- [62] Y. Nishiyama *et al.*, "Effect of the forward-projected model-based iterative reconstruction solution algorithm on image quality and radiation dose in pediatric cardiac computed tomography," *Pediatr. Radiol.*, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 1663–1670, Nov. 2016.
- [63] K. Yasaka, K. Kamiya, R. Irie, E. Maeda, J. Sato, and K. Ohtomo, "Metal artefact reduction for patients with metallic dental fillings in helical neck computed tomography: comparison of adaptive iterative dose reduction 3D (AIDR 3D), forward-projected model-based iterative reconstruction solution (FIRST) and AIDR 3D with single-energy metal artefact reduction (SEMAR)," *Dentomaxillofacial Radiol.*, vol. 45, no. 7, p. 20160114, Sep. 2016.
- [64] A. Gervaise *et al.*, "CT image quality improvement using adaptive iterative dose reduction with wide-volume acquisition on 320-detector CT," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 295–301, Feb. 2012.
- [65] M. Y. Chen *et al.*, "Simulated 50 % radiation dose reduction in coronary CT angiography using adaptive iterative dose reduction in three-dimensions (AIDR3D)," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 1167–1175, Jun. 2013.
- [66] A. Arbab-Zadeh *et al.*, "Ct Myocardial Perfusion Imaging Fails To Improve Diagnostic Accuracy of Ct Coronary Angiography To Determine Stent Patency," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 71, no. 11, p. A1639, 2018.
- [67] D. Ertel, T. Pflederer, S. Achenbach, and W. A. Kalender, "Real-time determination of the optimal reconstruction phase to control ECG pulsing in spiral cardiac CT," *Phys. Medica*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 122–127, Sep. 2009.
- [68] S. Achenbach, D. Ropers, J. Holle, G. Muschiol, W. G. Daniel, and W. Moshage,
 "In-Plane Coronary Arterial Motion Velocity: Measurement with Electron-Beam CT," *Radiology*, vol. 216, no. 2, pp. 457–463, Aug. 2000.
- [69] Sebastian Leschka *et al.*, "Optimal image reconstruction intervals for non-invasive coronary angiography with 64-slice CT," *Eur Radiol*, vol. 16, pp. 1964–1972, 2006.
- [70] L. Xu *et al.*, "Low-dose adaptive sequential scan for dual-source CT coronary angiography in patients with high heart rate: Comparison with retrospective ECG

gating," Eur. J. Radiol., vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 183–187, Nov. 2010.

- [71] R. Blankstein *et al.*, "Radiation Dose and Image Quality of Prospective Triggering With Dual-Source Cardiac Computed Tomography," *Am. J. Cardiol.*, vol. 103, no. 8, pp. 1168–1173, Apr. 2009.
- [72] J. Blobel, H. Baartman, P. Rogalla, J. Mews, and A. Lembcke, "Spatial and temporal resolution with 16-slice computed tomography for cardiac imaging.," *Rofo*, vol. 175, no. 9, pp. 1264–71, Sep. 2003.
- [73] Y. Wang, E. Vidan, and G. W. Bergman, "Cardiac Motion of Coronary Arteries: Variability in the Rest Period and Implications for Coronary MR Angiography," *Radiology*, vol. 213, no. 3, pp. 751–758, Dec. 1999.
- [74] L. Husmann *et al.*, "Coronary Artery Motion and Cardiac Phases: Dependency on Heart Rate—Implications for CT Image Reconstruction," *Radiology*, vol. 245, no. 2, pp. 567–576, Nov. 2007.
- [75] W. A. Kalender, H. Wolf, C. Suess, M. Gies, H. Greess, and W. A. Bautz, "Dose reduction in CT by on-line tube current control: principles and validation on phantoms and cadavers," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 323–328, Feb. 1999.
- [76] T. F. Jakobs *et al.*, "Multislice helical CT of the heart with retrospective ECG gating: reduction of radiation exposure by ECG-controlled tube current modulation," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1081–1086, May 2002.
- [77] S. Achenbach, K. Anders, and W. A. Kalender, "Dual-source cardiac computed tomography: image quality and dose considerations," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1188–1198, Jun. 2008.
- [78] S. ACHENBACH, "Current and future status on cardiac computed tomography imaging for diagnosis and risk stratification," *J. Nucl. Cardiol.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 703–713, Nov. 2005.
- [79] A. J. Einstein, M. J. Henzlova, and S. Rajagopalan, "Estimating Risk of Cancer Associated With Radiation Exposure From 64-Slice Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography," *JAMA*, vol. 298, no. 3, p. 317, Jul. 2007.
- [80] M. Kachelrieß, D.-A. Sennst, W. Maxlmoser, and W. A. Kalender, "Kymogram detection and kymogram-correlated image reconstruction from subsecond spiral computed tomography scans of the heart," *Med. Phys.*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 1489– 1503, Jun. 2002.

- [81] D. Ertel, T. Pflederer, S. Achenbach, M. Kachelrieß, P. Steffen, and W. A. Kalender, "Validation of a raw data-based synchronization signal (kymogram) for phase-correlated cardiac image reconstruction," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 253–262, Feb. 2008.
- [82] D. Ertel *et al.*, "Rawdata-Based Detection of the Optimal Reconstruction Phase in ECG-Gated Cardiac Image Reconstruction," Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006, pp. 348–355.
- [83] D. Ertel, T. Pflederer, S. Achenbach, M. Kachelrie, Y. Kyriakou, and W. A. Kalender, "Raw Data-Based Approach to Identify the Optimal Reconstruction Phase in Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography," J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr., vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 26–31, Jan. 2009.
- [84] M. J. Budoff *et al.*, "Assessment of coronary artery disease by cardiac computed tomography: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Committee on Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, and Committee on C," *Circulation*, vol. 114, no. 16, pp. 1761–1791, Oct. 2006.
- [85] R. Fazel *et al.*, "Exposure to Low-Dose Ionizing Radiation from Medical Imaging Procedures," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 361, no. 9, pp. 849–857, Aug. 2009.
- [86] E. Arnoldi *et al.*, "Adequate image quality with reduced radiation dose in prospectively triggered coronary CTA compared with retrospective techniques," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 2147–2155, Sep. 2009.
- [87] D. Matt *et al.*, "Dual-Source CT Coronary Angiography: Image Quality, Mean Heart Rate, and Heart Rate Variability," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 189, no. 3, pp. 567–573, Sep. 2007.
- [88] S. Achenbach *et al.*, "Influence of heart rate and phase of the cardiac cycle on the occurrence of motion artifact in dual-source CT angiography of the coronary arteries," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 91–98, 2012.
- [89] R. C. Hendel et al., "ACCF/ACR/SCCT/SCMR/ASNC/NASCI/SCAI/SIR 2006 Appropriateness Criteria for Cardiac Computed Tomography and Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging**Developed in accordance with the principles and methodology outlined by ACCF: Patel MR, Spertus JA, Brindis RG, Hendel RC, Douglas PS, Peterson ED, Wolk MJ, Allen JM, Raskin IE. ACCF proposed method

for evaluating the appropriateness of cardiovascular imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:1606–13.," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1475–1497, Oct. 2006.

- [90] U. J. Schoepf, P. L. Zwerner, G. Savino, C. Herzog, J. M. Kerl, and P. Costello, "Coronary CT Angiography," *Radiology*, vol. 244, no. 1, pp. 48–63, Jul. 2007.
- [91] S. Achenbach, "Cardiac CT: State of the art for the detection of coronary arterial stenosis," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 3–20, Jul. 2007.
- [92] S. Schroeder *et al.*, "Cardiac computed tomography: indications, applications, limitations, and training requirements: Report of a Writing Group deployed by the Working Group Nuclear Cardiology and Cardiac CT of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Council of Nuclear Cardiology," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 531–556, Jan. 2008.
- [93] M. P. Ostrom *et al.*, "Mortality Incidence and the Severity of Coronary Atherosclerosis Assessed by Computed Tomography Angiography," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 52, no. 16, pp. 1335–1343, Oct. 2008.
- [94] J. K. Min *et al.*, "Prognostic Value of Multidetector Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography for Prediction of All-Cause Mortality," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 1161–1170, Sep. 2007.
- [95] A. C. Weustink *et al.*, "Optimal Electrocardiographic Pulsing Windows and Heart Rate: Effect on Image Quality and Radiation Exposure at Dual-Source Coronary CT Angiography," *Radiology*, vol. 248, no. 3, pp. 792–798, Sep. 2008.
- [96] S. Leschka *et al.*, "Image Quality and Reconstruction Intervals of Dual-Source CT Coronary Angiography: Recommendations for ECG-Pulsing Windowing," *Invest. Radiol.*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 543–549, Aug. 2007.
- [97] M. B. Srichai, E. M. Hecht, D. Kim, J. Babb, J. Bod, and J. E. Jacobs, "Dual-source computed tomography angiography image quality in patients with fast heart rates," *J. Cardiovasc. Comput. Tomogr.*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 300–309, Sep. 2009.
- [98] M. H. K. Hoffmann *et al.*, "Noninvasive coronary angiography with 16-detector row CT: effect of heart rate," *Radiology*, vol. 234, no. 1, pp. 86–97, 2005.
- [99] T. A. Bley *et al.*, "Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography With 370-Millisecond Gantry Rotation Time: Evaluation of the Best Image Reconstruction Interval," *J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 1–5, Jan. 2005.
- [100] B. J. Wintersperger et al., "Image Quality, Motion Artifacts, and Reconstruction

Timing of 64-Slice Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography With 0.33-Second Rotation Speed," *Invest. Radiol.*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 436–442, May 2006.

- [101] H. Seifarth *et al.*, "Optimal Systolic and Diastolic Reconstruction Windows for Coronary CT Angiography Using Dual-Source CT," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 189, no. 6, pp. 1317–1323, Dec. 2007.
- [102] N. Matsuura *et al.*, "Optimal Cardiac Phase for Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring on Single-Source 64-MDCT Scanner: Least Interscan Variability and Least Motion Artifacts," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 190, no. 6, pp. 1561–1568, Jun. 2008.
- [103] R. Goetti *et al.*, "High-pitch dual-source CT coronary angiography: Systolic data acquisition at high heart rates," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 2565–2571, 2010.
- [104] Y. Horii *et al.*, "Relationship between Heart Rate and Optimal Reconstruction Phase in Dual-source CT Coronary Angiography," *Acad. Radiol.*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 726–730, 2011.
- [105] S. Schroeder *et al.*, "Influence of heart rate on vessel visibility in noninvasive coronary angiography using new multislice computed tomography. Experience in 94 patients," *Clin. Imaging*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 106–111, 2002.
- [106] G. Adler, L. Meille, A. Rohnean, A. Sigal-Cinqualbre, A. Capderou, and J. F. Paul, "Robustness of end-systolic reconstructions in coronary dual-source CT angiography for high heart rate patients," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1118– 1123, 2010.
- [107] F. Bamberg *et al.*, "Systolic acquisition of coronary dual-source computed tomography angiography: feasibility in an unselected patient population," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1331–1336, Jun. 2010.
- [108] R. Manzke, T. Köhler, T. Nielsen, D. Hawkes, and M. Grass, "Automatic phase determination for retrospectively gated cardiac CT," *Med. Phys.*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 3345–3362, Nov. 2004.
- [109] S. Leschka *et al.*, "Noninvasive Coronary Angiography with 64-Section CT: Effect of Average Heart Rate and Heart Rate Variability on Image Quality," *Radiology*, vol. 241, no. 2, pp. 378–385, Nov. 2006.
- [110] L. Husmann *et al.*, "Feasibility of low-dose coronary CT angiography: first experience with prospective ECG-gating," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 191– 197, Dec. 2007.

- [111] P. Stolzmann *et al.*, "Dual-Source CT in Step-and-Shoot Mode: Noninvasive Coronary Angiography with Low Radiation Dose ¹," *Radiology*, vol. 249, no. 1, pp. 71–80, Oct. 2008.
- [112] B. A. Herzog *et al.*, "First head-to-head comparison of effective radiation dose from low-dose 64-slice CT with prospective ECG-triggering versus invasive coronary angiography," *Heart*, vol. 95, no. 20, pp. 1656–1661, Oct. 2009.
- [113] P. Schoenhagen, "Back to the future: coronary CT angiography using prospective ECG triggering," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 153–154, Dec. 2007.
- [114] G. Pontone *et al.*, "Diagnostic Accuracy of Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 346–355, Jul. 2009.
- [115] B. Huang, J. Li, M. W.-M. Law, J. Zhang, Y. Shen, and P. L. Khong, "Radiation dose and cancer risk in retrospectively and prospectively ECG-gated coronary angiography using 64-slice multidetector CT," *Br. J. Radiol.*, vol. 83, no. 986, pp. 152–158, Feb. 2010.
- [116] P. Stolzmann *et al.*, "Prospective and retrospective ECG-gating for CT coronary angiography perform similarly accurate at low heart rates," *Eur. J. Radiol.*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 85–91, Jul. 2011.
- [117] Y. J. Hong *et al.*, "Low-dose coronary computed tomography angiography using prospective ECG-triggering compared to invasive coronary angiography," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 425–431, Mar. 2011.
- [118] E. Ünal *et al.*, "Comparison of image quality and radiation dose between prospectively ECG-triggered and retrospectively ECG-gated CT angiography: Establishing heart rate cut-off values in first-generation dual-source CT.," *Anatol. J. Cardiol.*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 759–64, Sep. 2015.
- [119] T. Maruyama, M. Takada, T. Hasuike, A. Yoshikawa, E. Namimatsu, and T. Yoshizumi, "Radiation Dose Reduction and Coronary Assessability of Prospective Electrocardiogram-Gated Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 52, no. 18, pp. 1450–1455, Oct. 2008.
- [120] "Normal Duration Times Normal Function of the Heart Cardiology Teaching Package - Practice Learning - Division of Nursing - The University of Nottingham."
 [Online]. Available:

https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/nursing/practice/resources/cardiology/function/nor

mal_duration.php. [Accessed: 18-Sep-2019].

- [121] F. Gaita *et al.*, "Short QT Syndrome," *Circulation*, vol. 108, no. 8, pp. 965–970, Aug. 2003.
- [122] S. Viskin, "The QT interval: too long, too short or just right.," *Hear. Rhythm*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 711–5, May 2009.
- [123] "ECG interpretation: Characteristics of the normal ECG (P-wave, QRS complex, ST segment, T-wave) – ECG learning." [Online]. Available: https://ecgwaves.com/ecg-topic/ecg-normal-p-wave-qrs-complex-st-segment-twave-j-point/. [Accessed: 18-Sep-2019].
- [124] A. Sodickson *et al.*, "Recurrent CT, Cumulative Radiation Exposure, and Associated Radiation-induced Cancer Risks from CT of Adults," *Radiology*, vol. 251, no. 1, pp. 175–184, Apr. 2009.
- [125] A. Berrington de González *et al.*, "Projected Cancer Risks From Computed Tomographic Scans Performed in the United States in 2007," *Arch. Intern. Med.*, vol. 169, no. 22, p. 2071, Dec. 2009.
- [126] D. J. Brenner and E. J. Hall, "Computed Tomography An Increasing Source of Radiation Exposure," N. Engl. J. Med., vol. 357, no. 22, pp. 2277–2284, Nov. 2007.
- [127] D. Ropers *et al.*, "Detection of Coronary Artery Stenoses With Thin-Slice Multi-Detector Row Spiral Computed Tomography and Multiplanar Reconstruction," *Circulation*, vol. 107, no. 5, pp. 664–666, Feb. 2003.
- [128] C. Martini *et al.*, "Dose reduction in spiral CT coronary angiography with dualsource equipment. Part I. A phantom study applying different prospective tube current modulation algorithms," *Radiol. Med.*, vol. 114, no. 7, pp. 1037–1052, Oct. 2009.
- [129] T. Flohr, K. Stierstorfer, R. Raupach, S. Ulzheimer, and H. Bruder, "Performance Evaluation of a 64-Slice CT System with z-Flying Focal Spot," *RöFo - Fortschritte auf dem Gebiet der Röntgenstrahlen und der Bildgeb. Verfahren*, vol. 176, no. 12, pp. 1803–1810, Dec. 2004.
- [130] A. B. Lee *et al.*, "Coronary image quality of 320-MDCT in patients with heart rates above 65 beats per minute: Preliminary experience," *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, vol. 196, no. 6, Jun. 2011.
- [131] G. Shirota et al., "Pediatric 320-row cardiac computed tomography using

electrocardiogram-gated model-based full iterative reconstruction," *Pediatr*. *Radiol.*, pp. 1–8, 2017.

- [132] A. Moscariello *et al.*, "Coronary CT angiography: image quality, diagnostic accuracy, and potential for radiation dose reduction using a novel iterative image reconstruction technique-comparison with traditional filtered back projection," *Eur Radiol*, vol. 21, pp. 2130–2138, 2011.
- [133] O. Gosling *et al.*, "A comparison of radiation doses between state-of-the-art multislice CT coronary angiography with iterative reconstruction, multislice CT coronary angiography with standard filtered back-projection and invasive diagnostic coronary angiography," *Heart*, vol. 96, no. 12, pp. 922–926, 2010.
- [134] Y. Funama *et al.*, "Improved Estimation of Coronary Plaque and Luminal Attenuation Using a Vendor-specific Model-based Iterative Reconstruction Algorithm in Contrast-enhanced CT Coronary Angiography," *Acad. Radiol.*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 1070–1078, 2017.
- [135] M. Kidoh *et al.*, "The effect of heart rate on coronary plaque measurements in 320row coronary CT angiography," *Int. J. Cardiovasc. Imaging*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1977–1985, 2018.
- [136] G. Pontone *et al.*, "Impact of a New Adaptive Statistical Iterative Reconstruction (ASIR)-V Algorithm on Image Quality in Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography," *Acad. Radiol.*, vol. 25, no. 10, pp. 1305–1313, 2018.
- [137] N. Tomizawa, T. Nojo, M. Akahane, R. Torigoe, S. Kiryu, and K. Ohtomo, "AdaptiveIterative Dose Reduction in coronary CT angiography using 320-row CT: assessment of radiation dose reduction and image quality," *J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 318–324, 2012.